Gwinn’s Town Hall and Clock Tower

--Rick Wills
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mong the landmark buildings erected during Gwinn’s earliest days the clock tower literally stood taller than most. It has been described as a sentinel of the town and its beacon.  The four sided clock at the top of the tower was visible from a great distance, rising up out of the surrounding forests.  The tower’s fire siren was a “call to arms” for volunteer firemen for years and brought curious townspeople within earshot to their doors, windows, or front yards to see “which way the fire was”.  And the bell, hanging below the clock, rang out the time andalerted children at play in the nearby woods that it was time to return home for supper. (It has been suggested though, that the voices of some parents, calling from their back porches, had an even greater carrying distance.)  

The tower was only part of the building of course.  Though known popularly as the “fire hall” the building really was the “town hall”, as the carved Bedford Stone tablature incorporated into the front of the building attests.  As such it served many purposes. While the Clubhouse was the social center of the community the town hall was the seat of government and hub of emergency services. Besides the fire department it housed the jail, marshal’s office, township offices, and eventually the ambulance services as well.

Beginning in 1907 and continuing for several years hundreds of workers scurried to build the new town of Gwinn, the roads and sewers snaking out, houses springing from the brushy, sandy soil, and the public buildings of commerce, religion, and government erupting brick by brick on the pine barrens.  Residents and businesses didn’t wait for construction to be completed before occupying the town however.  The mines were operating and despite the bustle of building people moved in and commerce and governance began.

The township boards, in the years prior, had been meeting in Little Lake, Princeton, and (Old) Swanzy, using whatever meeting space was available.  Buildings in various locales had been used as jails. (And according to local legend on some occasions no buildings at all were needed.  One early lawman in Princeton supposedly utilized handcuffs and any suitable tree during mosquito season to dissuade or punish miscreants.)  Even as Gwinn was being built its earliest, temporary fire hall was a company house on Maple Street.

The boom status of the township was predicated on iron mining of course and Gwinn was being developed by the Cleveland Cliffs Iron Company (CCI) as the new core of the mining district. With CCI officials dominating the school, township, and even local bank boards, much of the governing which had been dispersed throughout the township now became centralized in Gwinn.  

It was natural then that in June of 1914 the specifications for the construction of a town hall in Gwinn were released by the Marquette architectural firm of Charlton and Kuenzli.  The new structure would house the township offices, jail, and fire department. It was to be built on the corner of Pine and Flint Streets, prominently situated across from the commons and the bank, and next to Quayle’s mercantile.  The deadline to return the bids to township supervisor G.R. Jackson (who also was the District Mining Superintendent for CCI) was July 10 with construction to begin immediately.  Local contractor Victor Carlson, a Swedish immigrant who had been active in building much of the town, was awarded the contract. 

When he started Gwinn, CCI president William G. Mather had sought out some of the most skilled planners he knew to carry out his project. While landscape designer, Warren H. Manning of Boston was hired to lay out the town and provide the overview it fell to a number of architects, both private and CCI company staff, to draw up the details of the residential, commercial, and public structures within the town.  

In addition to the commercial buildings they provided Gwinn with a variety of housing types, some intended for rent by company employees and others for purchase by private owners.  Notable among the private architects involved were Abram Garfield of Cleveland, Ohio, and D.F. (Demetrius Frederick) Charlton, of Marquette, the first resident architect in the Upper Peninsula.

Garfield was the son of the former U.S. President, and was personally commissioned by Mather to design the Clubhouse which Mather donated to the community, using his private, not company, funds.  

Charlton was well known in the U.P. and had an even broader role in the planning process for Gwinn, holding the contracts to design the hotel, original school, bank, Quayle block, and mining superintendent’s residence.  It was Charlton who also designed the town hall.

D.F. Charlton was born in Wratham Kent, England in 1856 and trained as a civil engineer in England before moving to Windsor, Ontario in the 1870’s. There he worked as a draftsman and apprenticed under a series of English architects in the Windsor and Detroit area over the next several years.  In keeping with the practice of the time, no formal degree was required to become an architect.

He came to the U.P. in 1887 to supervise work on the Marquette Branch Prison out of the Marquette branch office of Detroit based architect, John Scott.  He eventually started his own firm in Marquette in 1891, later establishing branches in Milwaukee and Superior, Wisconsin.

During his career in the U.P. Charlton was responsible for designing most of the Episcopal churches in the Peninsula, many of the buildings at the Michigan College of Mines in Houghton (later Michigan Technological University ) and most, if not all, the original buildings at Northern State Normal School (later Northern Michigan University)  He designed the state hospital at Newberry, the Marquette County Courthouse, and worked for John Longyear at the Huron Mountain Club and on Longyear’s private residence on Ridge Street in Marquette. That house, famously, was later deconstructed and moved by rail car to Brookline, MA where it was used to build a new home for the Longyears.

In Gwinn Charlton designed the commercial buildings to be similar in appearance to one another.  As required by local rules, commercial buildings had to be of brick to forestall fires.  Charlton stipulated “Dark Indiana Colonial Brick” with “neat struck joints in white mortar”. The roofline was to feature deep overhanging eaves with accenting dentils on the soffit. 

Original plans seem to indicate that the exterior walls of the tower were meant to be covered with stucco plaster over metal lath. Whether this was mis-worded and intended to refer to the inner walls of the tower or whether it was simply changed during construction for some other reason eventually the entire outer walls of the tower, minus trim and balconies, were made of the same brick as the rest of the building.  Window sills and the some of the window detailingwere made of the same Bedford Stone limestone as the carved tablet on the building’s front.

The top of the tower remained empty until the next year (1915) when the township approved the purchase of a clock from the Seth Thomas Clock Co. for $725.00.  The four clock dials were nearly one half inch thick and were made of opaque, white glass. The four faces were of two slightly different diameters--two of each size.

The front of the building’s ground floor was designated as the “apparatus room” meant for the fire apparatus. Two large four panel doors opened onto Pine Street.  The tower stood on the outer wall of the main structure, to the north of the room, and although primarily known as the clock tower its main purpose really was as a hose tower.  After returning from a fire the firemen would hoist sections of fire hose up inside the tower to allow them to drain before folding or recoiling them for storage until the next time they were needed.  The back of the building held the marshal’s office which included two jail cells, segregated for men and women.

On the second floor a meeting room for the township board and for use as a courtroom spanned the front of the building.  Local justices of the peace presided on legal matters ranging from public drunkenness to game violations.  The township records were kept in a large vault at the top of the stairs. 

An apartment for the marshal also occupied the second floor although it was small and had only one bedroom.  When Art Johnson held the position of marshal in the 1950’s and 1960’s Art’s three children shared the one bedroom and his wife Carol and he used the small jury room in the hall outside the apartment as their “master suite”.

The marshal and his wife were expected to handle other responsibilities beyond law enforcement.  In the years prior to a centralized county wide dispatching agency residents needing help in an emergencywould call the marshal at work or at home.  He would set off the siren and write the address of the emergency on a chalkboard and set it outside the fire doors for the responders. If it was a call for an ambulance he would have to phone the responders from a call list and keep trying until he got someone.  If he wasn’t available his wife or someone brought in to “babysit” the phone would act in his stead.  Additionally, they were responsible for cleaning the meeting room and for feeding any prisoners housed in the jail.  There was seldom a need for this because any “hardened” criminals were transported to the county jail as soon as possible.

In the 1950’s a one story brick addition was attached to the south side of the building by the local Lions Club.  The building was used as a barber shop by Dominic Barbiere who would answer the phone during working hours in the absence of the marshal.  Later the shop was converted into additional garage space for the emergency services.

In the 1980’s a blocked roof drain on the main building caused water to build up on the roof, leading to its partialcollapse.  Some said the collapse caused the tower to fracture and twist on its axis near the roofline.  A horizontal crack in the mortar joint of the tower was apparent there afterward and standing at its base and looking up there appeared to be a slight corkscrewing of the tower.  The question remained as to whether it had been there all along or not.

By 1990 loose mortar and falling shingles from the tower’s dilapidated roof caused the Township Board to make the decision to demolish the tower out of concern for public safety.  In August of that year local contractor Mike Wills and his crew began removing the tower piece by piece down nearly to the level of the main building, where it was capped.

In the years since its construction in 1914 the focus of the building has evolved.  Township board meetings moved to larger facilities at the Clubhouse.  Court cases are no longer held in Gwinn and justices of the peace have been eliminated from the judiciary in Michigan.  A new building to hold the emergency vehicles and meeting rooms for the township was built a short distance away from the hall in recent years.  The original building could no longer hold the number and size of the vehicles currently needed to serve the community.  The apparatus room at thefront of the old building was reconfigured and the police department, which needed additional space, moved into it.

Almost immediately after the tower was removed in 1990, some residents and former residents bemoaned its loss and disputed the need to remove it, believing it could have been repaired.  Interest in rebuilding the tower arose but it took several years before a committee was formed to look into the feasibility of its reconstruction.  

As its first step the committee requested an examination of the building’s foundation by the Township’s engineering firm. Its findings disputed claims that the base could not support a new tower and determined the foundation to be structurally sound.

Before demolition of the tower the clock’s mechanisms and its four faces had been carefully removed, cleaned, and stored by the Township so that they could be reused if the tower was ever rebuilt.  The mechanisms were checked and found to be in good working order.  After discussing it at meetings it was decided that any reconstruction of the tower should be to its original height and that the clock should be electrified so that regular trips up the tower to rewind the clock could be eliminated. Also, a relatively small amount of money, several thousand dollars, was donated in hopes of successfully rebuilding the tower.  That money was invested in certificates of deposit by the Township in a separate account and has gained some interest.

Although the committee’s progress stalled after a short time, its initial hope of rebuilding the tower continued to have life.  The committee was dormant but the hope was not dead.  In 2007 the committee reformed combining new blood with some of the original members. During those ensuing years several events occurred which may have helped spur the efforts to “renew the rebuild”.

The results of planning meetings held during the Small Town Design Initiative process of several years ago showed that citizens wanted the town of Gwinn to be restoredand that rebuilding the clock was an important part of that restoration.  Additionally, the listing of the plat of Gwinn to the National Register of Historic Places in 2002, the recent renovations of the Nordeen Park downtown, the reinstatement of the tree lined boulevard on Pine Street, and the enthusiastic comments by people returning for the Centennial in 2008 have all shown that our history is important both as a part of our past and as a part of our future. It showed that restoration of our town can be done well, and that that has great benefits for our community.

Rebuilding the tower won’t be easy nor will it be inexpensive. The committee has been looking into funding sources and grants and realizes that this will be a long rather than a quick process.  Much money will have to be raised locally if we hope to persuade grantors or other entities to come on board but the committee hopes that people will show support for getting it successfully completed.  Just look at what has been recovered of the town so far and consider what more we all can do. 

For more information about the restoration effort contact Jeanette Maki at the Gwinn Area Chamber of Commerce: 906-346-9666.  Contributions can be sent to the Forsyth Township Hisotorical Society, PO Box 851, Gwinn, MI 49841, Attn. Clock Fund
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